

Guidance Note **DEFENSIVE TACTICS**

9 September 2019

[2 October 2025](#)



**TAKEOVERS
PANEL**
TE PAE WHITIMANA



Contents

1	Introduction	3
2	Meaning of defensive tactics	3
	Restrictive conditions in offers	4
	Target company information	5
3	Provisos	6
	Proviso (a): Resolution of shareholders	6
	Proviso (b): Pre-existing obligation or proposal	6
	Proviso (c): Panel approval	6
4	Meaning of “imminent” in rule 38(1) of the Code	7
	What does “imminent” mean?	7
	Fact scenario	7
	The Panel’s consideration of “imminent”	8
	The Panel’s decision	8
	Principles the Panel will apply	8

Document reference: 700-090 / 379895

This guidance note replaces the previous guidance note issued on 5 November 2013. The Takeovers Panel may replace guidance notes at any time and you should ensure that you have the most recent version of this guidance note by checking www.takeovers.govt.nz.

Disclaimer: All reasonable measures have been taken to ensure the information in this guidance note is accurate and current. The information is not legal advice. It is not intended to take the place of specific legal advice from a qualified professional. The information does not replace or alter the laws of New Zealand and other official guidelines or requirements.

Copyright: This guidance note was developed by the Takeovers Panel. The Panel authorises reproduction of this work, in whole or in part, so long as this disclaimer is retained, and the integrity and attribution of the work as a publication of the Panel is not interfered with in any way.



This Guidance Note addresses:

- ◆ the implications of the Code's rules on defensive tactics for directors of target companies (or Code companies that could become target companies);
- ◆ the grounds on which the Panel may exercise its jurisdiction to approve an action being taken or permitted by a target company that would otherwise be prohibited as a defensive tactic; and
- ◆ the meaning of "imminent" in rule 38(1) of the Code.

The Panel has recently updated its guidance (9 September 2019). Please see the [compare version](#) for the relevant changes.

1	Introduction	4
2	Meaning of defensive tactics	4
	Restrictive conditions in offers	5
	Target company can refuse due diligence	6
	Target company information required for OIA consent	6
3	Provisos	7
	Proviso (a): Resolution of shareholders	7
	Proviso (b): Pre-existing obligation or proposal	8
	Proviso (c): Panel approval	8
4	Meaning of "imminent" in rule 38(1) of the Code	8
	What does "imminent" mean?	9
	Fact scenario	9
	The Panel's consideration of "imminent"	9
	The Panel's decision	10
	Principles the Panel will apply	10
5	Schemes of arrangement	10
	Schedule: Version control, disclaimer and copyright	12



1 Introduction

- 1.1 This Guidance Note has been prepared to assist market participants to understand the Panel's approach when the directors of a target company engage in, or permit, defensive tactics in relation to a takeover offer or potential takeover offer.
- 1.2 This Guidance Note addresses:
- (a) the implications of the Code's rules on defensive tactics for directors of target companies (or Code companies that could become target companies);
 - (b) the grounds on which the Panel may exercise its jurisdiction to approve an action being taken or permitted by a target company that would otherwise be prohibited as a defensive tactic; and
 - (c) the meaning of "imminent" in rule 38(1) of the Code.

2 Meaning of defensive tactics

- 2.1 A defensive tactic under the Code is any action that is taken or permitted by the directors of a target company, once the company has received a takeover notice or has reason to believe that a bona fide offer is imminent,¹ in relation to the affairs of the Code company, that could effectively result in:
- (a) a takeover offer being frustrated; or
 - (b) the shareholders in the target company being denied an opportunity to decide on the merits of a takeover offer.²
- 2.2 The Code does not describe the specific kinds of actions taken or permitted by a target company that are prohibited as defensive tactics. The following are examples of actions that could, depending on the circumstances, breach rule 38:
- (a) acquiring or disposing of a major asset;
 - (b) incurring a material new liability or making a material change to an existing liability (this could include, for example, the variation of existing contracts to include clauses that would be triggered by a takeover);
 - (c) declaring an abnormally large or unusual dividend or other form of capital distribution;
 - ~~(d)~~ undertaking material issues of new shares or repurchases of existing shares, or material issues of convertible securities;

¹ Refer to paragraphs 4.1 to 4.12 for comments on the meaning of "imminent".

² Takeovers Code, rule 38(1).



(d)

- (e) entering an agreement with a third party that confers material economic benefits on the target company which are available only to one particular bidder;³
- (f) acquiring an asset that would render the offer subject to regulatory approval (such as under the Overseas Investment Act 2005 (**OIA**) or the Commerce Act 1986) that was not anticipated by the offeror prior to the issuing of a takeover notice under rule 41 of the Code; or
- (g) refusing to provide, or unreasonably delaying the provision of, information to an offeror that the offeror cannot otherwise reasonably obtain, which is required for the offeror to:
 - (i) assess whether it needs to apply for consent under the OIA; or
 - (ii) prepare an application for consent under the OIA.

2.3 This list is not exhaustive.

2.4 The extent to which an action could effectively result in an offer being frustrated or the shareholders being denied an opportunity to consider it, will depend on the circumstances of each case. It would not be a defensive tactic for the directors of the target company to provide genuine choices to the offeror or the offerees. For example, a transaction that might otherwise be a defensive tactic could be made conditional on the takeover offer not succeeding, or it could be conditional on the approval of the offeror.

2.5 Nothing prevents the directors of a target company from taking steps to encourage competing bona fide takeover offers from other persons.⁴ [The Panel considers that an offer in this context includes any competing transaction, including \(without limitation\) a scheme of arrangement.](#)

2.6 The Panel considers that it is not a defensive tactic if the directors of the target company, with good reason to do so, recommend that an offer be rejected.⁵

2.7 Frustration of a takeover offer does not relate to the legal doctrine of frustration. Rather, frustration for the purposes of the Code simply means a commercial impediment.⁶

Restrictive conditions in offers

2.8 The conduct ~~does not~~ need ~~to not~~ actually lead to the offer failing or not proceeding before it would be considered ~~to be~~ [constituting](#) a defensive tactic.

2.9 This can be a cause of particular concern to the directors of a target company in relation to the restrictions put on the business activities of the target company by the conditions stipulated in a takeover offer by an offeror. If the target company directors take or permit any action that could trigger a condition in the offer, the directors will risk contravening rule 38(1) of the Code. To trigger a condition that entitles the offeror to not proceed with the offer could effectively result in the shareholders in the target company being denied an opportunity to decide on the merits of a takeover offer.

~~2.10 — It is worth noting that rule~~ [However, not all actions which would result in a condition not being satisfied will be defensive tactics. Rule 25\(1A\)\(a\) of the Code provides that an offeror may not allow an offer to lapse in reliance on a condition of the offer that restricts the target company's activities in the ordinary course of the target company's business during the period that begins with the sending of a takeover notice and ends on the date by which the offer must become unconditional.](#)

³ Takeovers Panel Section 32 *Determination Tranz Rail Holdings Limited* (6 August 2003), paragraph 46.

⁴ Takeovers Code, rule 38(2).

⁵ The target company statement must contain either a recommendation by the directors of the target company to accept or reject the offer and the reasons for the recommendation, or a statement that the directors of the target company are unable to make, or are not making, a recommendation and the reasons for not making a recommendation: clause 15(1), Schedule 2, Takeovers Code.

⁶ Takeovers Panel Section 32 *Determination Tranz Rail Holdings Limited*, paragraph 48.



[2.10 If an offeror cannot rely on a condition by virtue of rule 25\(1A\)\(a\), then any actions by the target company which would prevent that condition from being satisfied will not be defensive tactics.](#)

Target company ~~information~~ can refuse due diligence

2.11 In general, rule 38 does not require (and cannot be used to require) target companies to provide information to an offeror, even if the offeror requests the information. For example, if an offeror requests due diligence-type information or confirmations from a target company, or includes conditions in its offer that require the target to provide such information or confirmations, the target will ~~generally~~ not breach rule 38 by refusing to provide that information or those confirmations.⁷

[2.12 The Panel, in its 2004 determination regarding Rubicon Limited \(**Rubicon**\), considered whether a target company had frustrated an offer by declining to provide information required by conditions of an offer. In that matter, Rubicon submitted that Tenon had contravened rule 38 by declining to provide confirmations required by conditions of the offer within the stipulated time period, and by publicly stating that it did not intend to provide information to an independent expert appointed by Rubicon in respect of conditions attached to the offer.](#)

[2.13 The Panel noted in that determination that:](#)

[“The restriction on defensive tactics cannot be seen as the basis for imputing to directors of target companies any positive obligation to provide information required by an offeror. The board of a target company should not be manoeuvred by the wording of conditions included by an offeror in its offer, into a position where it can be suggested that it is in breach of the rule 38 restriction on defensive tactics, merely by reason of its refusal to provide information or afford access to information”.](#)

[2.14 More recently, in 2024, Empire Technology Limited \(**Empire**\) issued a takeover notice for a partial takeover of Vital Limited \(**Vital**\), which included a condition of due diligence being subject “to Empire’s satisfaction, acting reasonably”.⁸](#)

[2.15 Vital refused to provide due diligence access to Empire. Empire subsequently complained to the Panel that the refusal to provide due diligence access amounted to defensive tactics. The Panel rejected Empire’s complaint. Following the approach in Rubicon, the Panel considered that Vital’s inaction \(or, lack of provision of due diligence information\) could not amount to a defensive tactic under rule 38.](#)

Target company information required for OIA consent

[2.12.16](#) Despite the general position set out above ~~at paragraph 2.11~~, refusing to provide, or unreasonably delaying the provision of, information to an offeror that the offeror cannot otherwise reasonably obtain, which is required for the offeror to assess the need for, or obtain, consent to acquire a relevant interest in “sensitive land” under the OIA, may be a prohibited defensive tactic.⁹

[2.13.17](#) The Panel’s ~~general~~ view is that, if a takeover notice has been received and if the overseas offeror makes a request, the target company must provide ~~certain~~ [the necessary](#) information about the target’s interests in land to the offeror within a reasonable timeframe. Failure to do so may result in a breach of rule 38. Specifically:

- (a) The information to be provided (the **Required Information**) should be sufficient to enable the offeror to assess whether OIA consent is required, and/or prepare an application for OIA consent. Typically, the Required Information will be limited to:

⁷ Takeovers Panel Section 32 Determination Rubicon Limited (19 May 2004).

⁸ The Rubicon determination pre-dated the inclusion of rule 25(1A) in the Code. In the Empire/Vital matter, the Panel considered that the due diligence condition could potentially be non-compliant with rule 25 of the Code (see the Panel’s Guidance Note on Offer Documents).

⁹ Relevant interests include any legal or equitable interests, for a term of three years or more (including rights of renewal). For example, if a target company has an unregistered lease of sensitive land for a term of three years or more, consent is required.



- (i) a list of the target company's interests in land (including the relevant ~~address~~addresses) that cannot be readily obtained through registered title searches in the name of the target and its subsidiaries; and
 - (ii) for each interest, the nature and duration of the interest, as well as a description of the land use, although it is possible that an offeror might require further information.
- (b) What ~~is~~ a reasonable period of time ~~is~~ to comply with the offeror's request, may vary from case to case. ~~In~~However, in general ~~though~~, once a target has received an offeror's request for Required Information, all of the Required Information should be provided as soon as practicable. In addition, the target should advise the offeror immediately after the request is made if it knows that it has an interest in sensitive land.

~~2.142.18~~ In some instances, some of the Required Information may be confidential. Where this is the case, the target may require the offeror to enter into a confidentiality agreement prior to providing the information.

~~2.152.19~~ It is possible that a target company would similarly be required to provide the offeror with information in relation to other statutory consents. However, in such instances, the Panel expects that the offeror will need to show at least that the statutory consent is required, that the information is required in order to obtain the statutory consent, and that the offeror has no other reasonable way to obtain the information. The Panel will consider issues relating to consent required under legislation other than the OIA on a case-by-case basis. The Panel expects that it is unlikely that information would need to be provided in relation to any clearance or authorisation under the Commerce Act 1986, as the information sought should largely be already available to the offeror, or may be obtained through the ordinary processes of the Commerce Commission.

3 Provisos

3.1 The prohibition against defensive tactics is subject to three provisos. These are discussed below:

Proviso (a): Resolution of shareholders

- 3.2 Pursuant to rule 39(a) of the Code, the directors of the target company may take or permit the kind of action that would otherwise be prohibited if the action has been approved by an ordinary resolution of the target company. Rule 39(a) of the Code does not allow for retrospective shareholder approval of a defensive action. However, it would not prevent the target company's directors from entering into an agreement to take an action (which would otherwise be prohibited as a defensive tactic) that is conditional on obtaining the approval of the shareholders of the target company before any such action is taken.
- 3.3 This proviso in the Code exists independently of any other regulatory requirements that may apply to the target company in respect of meetings of shareholders, such as under the Companies Act 1993 or the NZX Listing Rules.
- 3.4 In some cases, a target company may prefer to seek the Panel's approval of the action under rule 39(c) rather than convene a meeting of shareholders. This is discussed in more detail below.
- 3.5 Rule 40 of the Code sets out the Code's requirements for the notice of meeting in respect of the ordinary resolution. The Panel considers that all the information required by rule 40 should be provided in the same place in the notice of meeting or in a document accompanying the notice of meeting, and should be in a form that can be readily understood by an ordinary shareholder.¹⁰
- 3.6 The Panel considers that it is not possible for a rule 40 resolution to retrospectively approve the actions of directors.¹¹ However, as noted above, an action that would be prohibited can be agreed by the directors if it is conditional on first obtaining a rule 39(a) approval resolution of shareholders.

¹⁰ Takeovers Panel Section 32 Determination Otago Power Limited (31 May 2002), paragraph 46.

¹¹ ~~Ibid, paragraph~~Paragraph 46.



Proviso (b): Pre-existing obligation or proposal

- 3.7 It is not a defensive tactic if the action is taken or permitted under a contractual obligation entered into by the target company, or in the implementation of proposals approved by the directors of the target company, and the obligations were entered into, or the proposals were approved, before the target company received the takeover notice, or became aware that the offer was imminent.¹²
- 3.8 This proviso is strict in its application. It does not extend to matters that are under consideration by the directors but on which they have, as yet, not made an approval decision.

Proviso (c): Panel approval

- 3.9 If provisos (a) and (b) do not apply, the Panel has jurisdiction to approve an action that would otherwise be prohibited as a defensive tactic if the action is taken or permitted for reasons unrelated to the offer.
- 3.10 In some cases, the Panel's approval under rule 39(c) may be sought by a target company as an alternative to the shareholder approval proviso under rule 39(a). The Panel's jurisdiction is limited to approval of actions that are unrelated to the offer. The Panel is reluctant to "stand in the shoes" of shareholders if a decision would be more appropriately made by them.
- 3.11 In practice, this will mean that an application under rule 39(c) ~~will need to~~ must demonstrate why shareholder approval of the action under rule 39(a) is not appropriate in the circumstances of the case. The inconvenience and cost of a meeting of shareholders, or that a commercial opportunity may be lost if it requires the approval of shareholders, alone are not sufficient reasons.
- 3.12 The Panel will consider all the circumstances of the particular case when it decides whether to approve an action under rule 39(c). Factors that the Panel may consider include (this is not intended to be an exhaustive list):
- (a) the circumstances that would lead to the particular action being taken or permitted;
 - (b) the timing of the takeover offer for the target company; and
 - (c) the effect that the action may have on the offer (or any potential offer).
- 3.13 Whether the Panel publishes a decision under rule 39(c) will depend upon the degree of public interest and relevant concerns of commercial confidentiality. A takeover offer is a public transaction and, accordingly, there is likely to be public interest in any decisions made by the Panel under rule 39(c). If appropriate, the Panel would invite the target company to make submissions on whether the Panel's decision should be published.

4 Meaning of "imminent" in rule 38(1) of the Code

- 4.1 Rule 38(1) of the Code prevents the board of a target Code company from engaging in defensive action when it has received a takeover notice or has "*reason to believe that a bona fide offer is imminent*".
- 4.2 The question as to whether an offer is imminent can arise in many and varied circumstances - from significant acquisitions of the company's shares accompanied by market speculation of a takeover through to an approach by a party for information, or to undertake due diligence, supported by a highly conditional, non-binding, confidential agreement relating to a possible acquisition of the company.
- 4.3 In each of these examples, whilst there is no certainty that a takeover offer will follow, the directors have to make a judgement as to whether or not an offer is imminent. The decision is critical given that steps taken in the ordinary course of the business by the directors may be regarded as defensive tactics which breach rule 38 of the Code.¹³ This Guidance Note is intended to assist directors of Code companies in making that judgement.

¹² Takeovers Code, rule 39(b).

¹³ See paragraphs 2.8 to 2.102.15 for more information about defensive tactics.



- 4.4 Rule 38(1) establishes two quite distinct thresholds, both of which ~~would~~ need to be met in order to establish a breach of the rule:
- (a) whether a Code company has received a takeover notice, or has reason to believe that a bona fide offer is “*imminent*”; and, if so,
 - (b) whether an action permitted or taken by the directors of the company, in relation to the company’s affairs, could effectively result in an offer being frustrated or in shareholders being denied an opportunity to decide on the merits of an offer.¹⁴

What does “imminent” mean?

- 4.5 This section of the Guidance Note focuses on the definition of “*imminent*” under the first threshold in rule 38(1). The meaning of “imminent” is not defined in the Code. The fact scenario below sets out how the Panel has dealt in the past with a question regarding the imminence of a possible takeover offer.

Fact scenario

- 4.6 The Panel received a complaint from Company B (**B**) that Company A (**A**), a Code company, had taken defensive action in breach of rule 38 when a takeover was “*imminent*”. B complained to the Panel about an announcement that had been made by A that A intended to sell a significant asset. In particular, B alleged that the announcement amounted to a defensive action by the directors of A and that any disposal of that asset would not be permitted by rule 38 of the Takeovers Code.
- 4.7 B had made a market stand to acquire 19.99% of the voting rights in A. A had announced the proposed sale of its asset one week later, the directors of A having approved the proposed sale one day prior to making the announcement. B had not announced an intention to make a takeover offer at that time. Even at the date of the complaint to the Panel some four weeks later, B had not made any statement to the market or to A of an intention to make a takeover offer.
- 4.8 The Panel also noted that the only evidence B had provided to support its complaint that A may have believed that it had an imminent takeover offer, was media speculation that an offer was imminent. However, in the media statements, B publicly stated that it had “*no imminent plan*” to make a takeover offer for the shares in A. Accordingly, B had not appeared to have announced to either A or to the market that it intended to make a takeover offer for A.

The Panel’s consideration of “imminent”

- 4.9 In considering the matter, the Panel noted that the meaning of the word “*imminent*” in rule 38(1) could be interpreted in two ways:
- (a) “*imminent*” could take its natural meaning of ‘is very likely going to happen very soon’, in a temporal sense. Such a black letter approach would suggest that a target company’s assessment of whether a bona fide offer was imminent would be a reasonably high threshold; or,
 - (b) “*imminent*” could be interpreted from a policy standpoint having regard to the mischief rule 38 addresses - which is that shareholders should not miss the opportunity of considering an offer because the target company discourages an offer by an initiative it takes. This would lower the threshold at which the board of the target company should consider an offer was “imminent”.
- 4.10 The Panel considered that implying too much policy into rule 38 would make the threshold of when a bona fide offer was “imminent” too low. A strict policy approach to rule 38 might be seen as protecting shareholders from the situation of being prevented from receiving an offer. In this case “imminent” would not have a temporal sense;

¹⁴ See paragraphs 2.1 to 2.7 for more discussion of this issue.



it would apply where the board of the target takes a step motivated by the prospect of a takeover offer in order to make it more difficult.

The Panel's decision

- 4.11 The Panel decided not to take action because it appeared that B could not establish that A had “*reason to believe that a bona fide offer [was] imminent*” for the purposes of rule 38. The only evidence provided to the Panel by B was media speculation to that effect. The Panel decided that it was not appropriate to interpret “*imminent*” solely in a temporal sense. If B had conveyed to A that it intended to make a takeover offer, even if it would take some time to make the actual offer, the Panel considered that that advice may have been sufficient to reach the threshold of “*imminent*” within rule 38(1). Therefore, “*imminent*” is only temporal in one sense in rule 38.
- 4.12 In relation to the words “*has reason to believe*” that an offer is imminent in rule 38(1), the Panel took the view that the test is objective and the question must be examined from the point of view of a reasonable target company board with all of the information that A had at the time it took the action.

Principles the Panel will apply

- 4.13 In determining whether an offer is “*imminent*”, the Panel will apply the following principles:
- (a) the threshold for imminence is neither:
 - (i) as high as the dictionary, or natural, temporal meaning of “*imminent*” which means: *is very likely going to happen very soon*; nor
 - (ii) as low as a policy-rich non-temporal meaning which would equate to a mere prospect of a takeover offer;
 - (b) the Panel will consider the particular facts of the case;
 - (c) the Panel will consider the policy behind rule 38 which may affect the Panel's view on whether the target company should have believed that an offer was imminent;
 - (d) the Panel's view under 4.13(a)(ii) may be influenced by the actions of the target company and the actions of the prospective offeror;
 - (e) the Panel will consider whether the prospective offeror has conveyed to the target company board that it intends to make an offer;¹⁵ and
 - (f) the Panel will apply an objective test to the question as to whether a company “*has reason to believe*” that an offer is imminent: – for example, the Panel may accept that a target has reason to be sceptical of a mere assertion by a potential offeror that an offer is imminent (including where the assertion includes details such as timing or other aspects of the offer).

5 Schemes of arrangement

5.1 The Code's defensive tactics restrictions do not apply in relation to schemes of arrangement.

5.2 As discussed above, the Code's defensive tactics restrictions apply once a Code company has received a takeover notice or has reason to believe that a bona fide offer is imminent. The terms “takeover notice” and “offer” are both defined under the Code and relate only to offers made under the Code. Schemes are not offers made under the Code. Accordingly, the Code's defensive tactics are not engaged in relation to schemes.

¹⁵ Prospective offerors should take care not to mislead Code company directors about a transaction or event that is likely to be regulated by the Code. Rule 64 of the Code (which prohibits misleading or deceptive conduct) has a very broad application.



5.3 The Panel is aware that acquirers may approach potential targets regarding a proposed acquisition with a proposal that includes statements to the effect that:

(a) The acquirer wishes to acquire the target and would prefer to proceed on the basis of a scheme of arrangement.

(b) However, despite the acquirer's preference for a scheme of arrangement:

(i) the acquirer reserves the possibility of making a Code offer; and

(ii) accordingly, the target should regard an offer as being imminent.

5.4 The Code's defensive tactics restrictions will apply in this situation only to the extent that the target has reason to believe that a bona fide offer is imminent.

5.5 While circumstances may vary, the Panel may consider that such statements (by themselves) do not indicate that an offer is imminent. The Panel is conscious that such statements may be designed to cut off the possibility of alternative transactions for the target, and could reduce the potential for competition for the control of Code companies.



Schedule: Version control, disclaimer and copyright

Version Control

This version (Panel document reference number #1001955.1) was published on 2 October 2025.

The version history of this Guidance Note is, in summary:

<u>Date of version</u>	<u>Principal changes from previous version</u>	<u>Document reference number</u>
<u>2 October 2025</u>	<u>Incorporated a summary of the Panel's approach in recent transactions, relocated content between Guidance Notes, and clarified the extent to which defensive tactics were relevant in schemes of arrangement.</u>	<u>#1001955.1</u>
<u>9 September 2019</u>	<u>Incorporated new guidance on the application of rule 38, confirming that, while target companies were generally not required to share information with offerors, exceptions may apply where the information was needed to assess or obtain Overseas Investment Act consent.</u>	<u>#379895.1</u>
<u>5 November 2013</u>	<u>Incorporated comments on the meaning of "imminent" in rule 38(1) and an amendment made to the Code on 1 June 2013.</u>	<u>#373426.1</u>

Disclaimer

All reasonable measures have been taken to ensure the information in this Guidance Note is accurate and current. The Takeovers Panel may replace or update this Guidance Note at any time and you should ensure that you have the most recent version of this Guidance Note by checking www.takeovers.govt.nz.

The information is not legal advice. It is not intended to take the place of specific legal advice from a qualified professional. The information does not replace or alter the laws of New Zealand and other official guidelines or requirements. As with all matters that come before the Panel, any examples referred to in this Guidance Note are illustrative only, may not state all relevant facts which are material when contrasted to future matters and the Panel is not bound by its own precedents.

Copyright

Copyright material in this Guidance Note is protected by copyright owned by the Takeovers Panel on behalf of the Crown. Unless indicated otherwise for specific items or collections of content (either below or within specific items or collections), this copyright material is licensed for re-use under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International Licence.

In essence, you are free to copy, distribute and adapt the material, as long as you attribute it to the Takeovers Panel and abide by other licence terms. Please note that this licence does not apply to any logos, emblems and trademarks or to this Guidance Note's design elements or to any photography and imagery. Those specific items may not be re-used without express permission.

For convenience and informational purposes only, this Guidance Note may provide links to other websites. These other sites may contain information that is the copyright of third parties and subject to restrictions on reuse. Permission to use copyrighted materials from other web sites must be obtained from the copyright owner and cannot be obtained from the Takeovers Panel.